96075-5

FILED SUPREME COURT CSUATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 03/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON JUL - 9 CLERK

No. 75815-2-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

T OF APPEALS DIV TE OF WASHINGTON

2018

RICHARD LEE, Plaintiff/Appellant,

V.

CITY OF SEATTLE, COURTNEY LOVE COBAIN, et all,

Respondents

and

COURTNEY LOVE COBAIN and FRANCES BEAN COBAIN,

Cross-Claimants

۷.

CITY OF SEATTLE, SEATTLE POLICE DEPARTMENT,

Cross-Claim Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

BY APPELLANT RICHARD LEE

Richard Lee PO Box 31925, Seattle WA 98103 Telephone (206) 545-0878 Represented pro se Email: richardleeseattle@gmail.com

RCW 40.14.04	19

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Richard Lee, appellant below, hereby petitions for review of the Court of

Appeals decision identified in Part II.

.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant seeks review of the unpublished opinion issued by the Court of

Appeals Division I in the case of Richard Lee v. Seattle Police Department et al

(May 14,, 2018) (2018 Court of Appeals Division I, 75815-I) (App. A hereto). The Court of Appeals denied Appellant's motion for publication on June 8, 2018.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Did the Court of Appeals err in terminating review of this case on the basis that Lee's error(s) pertaining to federal law, i.e., the 14th Amendment and substantial due process, which Lee says were "purely accidental," because he really sought to gain tactical advantage, even though he is a *pro se* litigant? Should Lee's error(s) be overlooked under RAP 1.2(a) and this case decided on the merits?
- 2. Should Lee's cause be defeated in a case where dramatic descriptions of graphic, gory, and gruesome photographs are taken at face value, despite strong evidence that this has been misrepresented, as the photos actually show a decedent who did not die of a shotgun wound, which has also been misrepresented by government officials for over 24 years?
- 3. Should the trial court's granting of summary judgment be upheld, despite issue(s) of material fact that should be seen as potentially wholly determinative in a trial setting? Should a case of this importance be dismissed in this way, without a single witness being called?
- 4. RCW 42.56 Washington Public Records Act cases are supposed to be decided on a basis of public interest, not private interest, so did the court(s) err in allowing dramatic claims of psychological stress by two individuals to overcome the pressing concern of the public's right to know how police conduct homicide investigations, especially with strong indications that

they have committed fraud in this case? Did these courts ignore the special status of these individuals as general purpose public figures, who cannot demand privacy considerations where none should exist?

5. Are the courts relying too heavily on *Marsh*, *Favish* and *Rochin* because of the obvious subject matter similarity of photographs of dead bodies, without adequately considering the many distinct differences in this case?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the rights of the citizens of Washington to have governmental police documents released in a violent death case which has been closed but controversial for over 24 years, essentially since the day the body of the decedent was discovered in a greenhouse room above the garage of his Seattle home in April of 1994. This death case has been a matter of intense and worldwide public interest and debate from the very beginning, as the decedent was Kurt Cobain, a famous musician and controversial public figure, as is his widow, Courtney Love Cobain, who stoked public interest with a recorded speech played at his very public memorial at Seattle Center two days after his body's discovery, seemingly blaming Kurt Cobain for the immorality of his death by repeatedly calling him an "asshole" and a "fucker" as she read the majority of his purported suicide note of more than 500 words to a crowd of thousands. Cobain's death and the memorial event was of course a major news story throughout the United States and the world. The appellant Richard Lee is a veteran journalist who began his professional career in the early 1980s with the weekly newspaper the Chicago Reader. Lee attended the memorial event and

aired his first local cable television program on this subject three days later, titling it Was Kurt Cobain Murdered?

In 1994 Lee worked with a Seattle attorney to win release of documents he had not received through his own efforts through Seattle Police Department on the Kurt Cobain death investigation. At that time it was known that the SPD had rolls of 35mm which were supposed to have many images of the crime scene or "death scene" but which were never chemically developed. That lawyer abruptly and without explanation quit the cause in early 1995, although her firm subsequently went on to represent Courtney Love Cobain in another matter. Lee briefly pursued another suit in the late 1990s to win release of the photos, but withdrew upon consideration that victory was nearly impossible to conceive, primarily because silver nitrate film is easy to compromise if a party wishes the contents never to be developed.

In March of 2014, the SPD developed the film and made 37 frames available to the media, which were a subject of worldwide news, including speculation that the photos supported the theories of murder and/ or police misconduct. Lee began his PRA requests and lawsuit filings. The City Attorney's defense was soon joined by the Cobains, Kurt Cobain's widow and daughter as cross-claimants, and eventually this was dismissed in its entirety in 2016 in King County Superior Court under summary judgment motions. Lee then appealed to the Court of Appeals, which ruled to terminate review on May 14, 2018. Lee now seeks review and redress at the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it involves a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States, or if it involves an Issue of substantial public interest, or if the decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

A. Appellant Lee's Accidental Omission of the 14th Amendment and Substantial Due Process From This Washington Case

The Court of Appeals affirmation of the denial of Lee's claims in this case raises fundamental issues about the vitality of our state's Public Records Act in an era of entrenched attitudes of government officials and self-serving tactics of media corporations. Our state legislature this year gained scorn by suddenly and without floor debate or public hearing passing Senate Bill 6617 which exempted the legislature itself from the PRA. Mary Perry, twice referred to in the decision affirming, is the City of Seattle-Seattle Police Department (hereinafter "COS-SPD") director of transparency and privacy, and an editor of the Washington State Bar Association's Handbook on Public Disclosure, who in recent years advocated successfully for the release of a live-action surveillance video of a student at Seattle Pacific University being shot with a shotgun by murderer Aaron Ybarra over the objections of the students-victims, yet she has been a declarant and a leader in blocking of documents release in Lee's case. Does v. King County, 192 Wn. App. 10, 366 P.3d 936 (2015). It has become obvious that government and private sector media lawyers are now involved in many legal actions to manage the application of the PRA in ways never foreseen by legislative intent, in this case of this law through a ballot initiative from 1972.

Central to the Court of Appeals affirmation terminating review is the issue of Lee's failure to list the component of the trial court's decision incorporating the 14th Amendment and substantial due process. In explaining his position to the Court of Appeals in this failure, Lee stated that in recent years he has obtained a two-year Associate of Technical Arts degree in paralegal studies in an American Bar Association-approved program at a Washington state college and provided a transcript showing his graduating with a perfect 4.0 GPA, to show that he has basic competency to conduct his suit. EX. 2018-April #31. His selfrepresentation been necessary. Lee has explained, because despite the possibility of substantial statutory awards in this case, he was unable to find a lawyer to handle any part of the matter, apparently because of Lee's unpopularity with commercial news media, with whom he has been a critic and a competitor for attention over many years, and Lee's general unpopularity with those involved in politics and policing, i.e., lawyers in general. Obviously, a big part of the derailing of Lee's efforts to bring this PRA case to trial has been the assertion of the adversarial parties and then the affirming court that Lee's failure to specifically address the 14th Amendment issue(s) in his brief's assignments of error has been the rejection of Lee's apologetic explanation that this was "purely accidental."

In an odd tone, the affirming court wrote that "Lee...extolled the virtues" of his paralegal training and previous experience as a *pro se* litigant and defendant as if this was somehow proof that Lee's misstep in the assignments of error was very deliberate; as the court wrote, "Lee assumed the tactically advantageous

position of being able to respond to the Cobain's presentation on appeal without rebuttal." This assumes that the highly expert team(s) of the Seattle City Attorney as lawyers from COS-SPD, the Michael Hunsinger firm employed by the Cobains, and amicus party Washington State Association of Municipal Attorneys would all remain unaware of the opportunity to cry foul and bring us to arguing this point today. Given what has transpired, it is only reasonable to assume that the responding parties saw this as their lucky tactical win, although to take advantage they had to argue, among other things, that this represents Lee rejecting federal law supremacy, which Lee has repeatedly denied.

The Cobains' Response Brief contains a refutation of what Lee has responded already was a purely accidental omission of the factor of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, with the Cobains reiterating a unfounded claim that Lee's 'failure to address the trial court's due process holding was intentional." (Cobains Brief, p. 23). Lee's explanation for his mistake in this appeal was that this lawsuit is being heard in Washington State by our state's courts, on a matter under our state's PRA. and that the *Marsh* case was oddly removed from present circumstances because it dealt with a retired prosecutor's "retained" photos published of a murdered child was so starkly different from disclosure of documents under our PRA in this entirely formal court procedure. Lee's ostensibly reasonable perception was that the *Marsh* case was being addressed by inference, by Lee dealing head-on the statutory and common law factors genuinely and immediately present in this Washington PRA case in the Washington courts. As the Cobains state in their brief, "the PRA is in no way

inconsistent with Marsh" (Cobains Brief, p. 35) and neither the Cobains, COS-

SPD nor the trial judge made any indication that the Marsh Ninth Circuit decision

was essential in this case in offering some special degree of protection for

privacy not found in our PRA, which is subordinate to U.S. Constitutional

standards. Marsh v. County of San Diego, 680 F.3d 1148 (Ninth Cir. 2012).

B. The role of *State v. Olson* and RAP 1.2(a) on How Technical Violation of the Rules Should Normally be Overlooked and the Case Should be Decided on the Merits.

Central to the Court's consideration of this appeal is the case of State v.

Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315 (1995) 893 P.2d 629. This is the primary Washington

Supreme Court case for consideration of the application of RAP 1.2(a), which

states that

It is clear from the language of RAP 1.2(a), and the cases decided by this court, that an appellate court may exercise its discretion to consider cases and issues on their merits. This is true despite one or more technical flaws in an appellant's compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. This discretion, moreover, should normally be exercised unless there are compelling reasons not to do so. In a case where the nature of the appeal is clear and the relevant issues are argued in the body of the brief and citations are supplied so that the court is not greatly inconvenienced and the respondent is not prejudiced, there is no compelling reason for the appellate court not to exercise its discretion to consider the merits of the case or issue.

RAP 1.2(a) states:

These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b).

The clear language of this rule supports the conclusion of the Court of Appeals and compels us to find that a technical violation of the rules, such as that in this case, should normally be overlooked and the case should be decided on the merits. This result is particularly warranted where the violation is minor and results in no prejudice to the other party and no more than a minimal inconvenience to the appellate court. (*Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315 (1995) 893 P.2d 629).

C. The Three G's: Graphic, Gory and Gruesome, the Undefined Terms That Signal an Exemption Which Does Not Exist for a Shotgun Wound Which Does Not Exist

The most basic tenant of due process is that citizens must have notice and an opportunity to oppose government actions that harm them. Mathews v. *Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 318, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 16 (1976). Although the COS-SPD has made passing reference to notifying the Cobains, this vague claim seems designed to provide some qualification that COS-SPD is not some great offender of the due process rights of the Cobains in the release of the first set of the 35mm crime scene photos. The often repeated COS-SPD claims that the additional 55 photos must be suppressed from release because they are "gruesome" and "graphic" and "gory" have been accompanied by no descriptive details whatsoever, so that Lee, the public, and even the trial judge, who refused the offer by COS-SPD to view the photos in camera, have been dealing with these various arguments blindly, except for presumptions that can be assumed based on those 37 35mm photos that were initially released in March of 2014. If COS-SPD had conferred with the Cobains on the details of the images that they released, this certainly has not been stated, although Lee has pressed for such information at many times. To all appearances, if any notice was given to the Cobains prior to the release, it was non-specific as to the special content of the photos. Consider the content of the 37 photos that were disclosed, showing

Cobain's hand and arm with a medical bracelet from a recent hospital stay (EX. 2018-April <u># 9</u>), his foot next to a box for shotgun shells, several photos of what the police claimed was his heroin shooting kit in a cigar box, and no fewer than 10 photos of Cobain's presumed suicide note *in situ*. Without any details as to how such notice was given or stated, it is clear that a *Marsh*-based complaint about lack of due process should be directed at COS-SPD, not Lee, who is a private party, not a governmental one. Lee makes this statement in a spirit of irony and instruction. What level of pre-release collaboration if any between COS-SPD and the Cobains occurred will likely never be known.

All of these already-released disturbing images are what we should reasonably expect could cause the anxiety and harm that the Cobains asserted in their emotional declarations, so we must ask where was the line drawn as to what was to be released with no notice or non-specific notice in these crime scene photographs? The answer that is obvious is that the key standard applied was that photos would not be released showing Cobain's head or any area near the head. As he explained rather dramatically in oral argument this year, Lee's discovery in 1994 of telephoto-lens video showing the top of Cobain's head intact and bloodless (EX. 2018-April <u>#_11</u>) soon led to unpublicized claims to Lee by the top personnel at the King County Medical Examiner that Cobain suffered "no exit wound" and that "all of the shot stayed inside his skull." This impossible wound scenario was finally made quasi-official in the much-publicized 2014 COS-SPD report by Detective Mike Ciesynski, who wrote,

"Some theorists have suggested that a 20-gauge shotgun would have caused more than the penetrating wounds sustained by victim. This is a

completely false assumption. Studies conducted have shown that wounds sustained by victim were consistent with the load and gauge of the recovered weapon." EX. 2018-April $\underline{\#2}$.

The problem with this conclusion is that Cobain's death certificate has his official cause of death as "Contact perforating shotgun wound to head (mouth)." EX. 2018-April <u># 1.</u> "Perforating" means that there was an exit wound, and is the definitional opposite of Ciesynski's reported "penetrating" wound.

What this should make clear to any reasonable person is that the failure of COS-SPD to specifically refute at trial or upon appeal Lee's claims of a bloodless or near-bloodless crime scene smack of overt fraud in court, with alarming but non-specific claims of "gory," graphic" and "gruesome" details conveying a deliberately false impression about the content of the photos.

D. Summary Judgment and at Least One Material Fact that Needs To Be Resolved

The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's decision on summary judgment de novo. *Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 489, 497, 210 P.3d 308 (2009). Summary judgment is appropriate only if the supporting materials, viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, demonstrate that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c); *Owen v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe R.R. Co.*,153 Wn.2d 780, 787, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). "Once the moving party has met this burden, however, the burden shifts to the nonmovingparty to set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Sisters of Providence v. Snohomish County*, 57 Wn. App. 848, 850, 790 P.2d 656 (1990). "The nonmoving party cannot simply rest upon the allegations of his pleadings; he must affirmatively present the factual evidence upon which he relies." *Sisters of Providence*, 57 Wn. App. at 850.

Any reasonable person, including a judge and/or jury should see the contradiction between long-lens video evidence demonstrating an unbloodied head of Cobain, the reporting of an apparently impossible "no exit wound" scenario by both Lee and Detective Ciesynski and the claims of COS-SPD in this case of a special quasi-categorical nature to these 55 photos because they are graphic, gory and gruesome. This should be a definitive example of a matter to be resolved at trial, as it is obviously potentially wholly determinative of its outcome.

E. Privacy and Public Figures: Do Bold Claims of Psychological Distress Trump Established Law on Privacy Expectations?

Building upon the unsubstantiated and bold claims of emotional distress

by the Cobains, the affirming court shows itself considering solely the assertions

of the cross-claimants. They write:

At issue here are photographs that show the dead body of Mr. Cobain. But the photographs are more than an oddity showcasing the tragic end of a celebrated musician—to those who knew Mr. Cobain, the photographs show the lifeless body of a son, a father, a husband, or a friend. As the Cobain's declarations establish, the disclosure of these photographs would allow the entire world to peer into one of the most private and distressing events of the Cobains' lives. Once released, the photographs would become ammunition for those who wish to taunt and antagonize the Cobains and their friends.

It is certainly not clear where the court may have gained the perception that Lee

or anyone else was interested in the release of the photographs as anything

other than evidence demonstrating offenses such as police corruption and/or

incompetence in this case, and the extrapolation that Lee or anyone else is

seeking "ammunition" to "taunt and antagonize the Cobains and their friends" is not supported by the Cobains' declarations the affirming court quoted at length or anything else in evidence in this case.

In the assertion that "these photographs would allow the entire world to peer into one of the most private and distressing events of the Cobains' lives," the court is being obtuse to the weighty evidence that Lee adduced in oral argument and in his briefs that the Cobains, who commit outlandish and controversial acts in public on a regular basis, are considered public figures of the most extreme variety, so much so that they have essentially relinquished norms of rights to privacy that protect the majority of the population.

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