FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/17/2018 10:03 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96075-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD LEE,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE, ET AL,

Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE HUNSINGER LAW FIRM

By: Michael D. Hunsinger

WSBA No. 7662

6100 219th Street SW, Suite 480 Mountlake Terrace, WA 98043 (425) 582-5730

Attorneys for Respondents Courtney Love Cobain and Frances Bean Cobain

A.	Introduction			
В.	Restatement of Issues Presented for Review			
C.	Restatement of the Case			
	1.	Kurt Cobain dies in April of 1994.	3	
	2.	Mr. Lee has been obsessed with Kurt Cobain's death ever since.	3	
	3.	Following Kurt Cobain's death, the City provided Mr. Lee with many documents in response to his public disclosure requests.	5	
	4.	The procedural history of this case.	6	
D.	Argument Why Review Should Be Denied			
	1.	The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington state law in dismissing Mr. Lee's appeal for failure to properly appeal the Cobains' summary judgment.	11	
	2.	The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's ruling that the disclosure of the death-scene photographs would violate the Cobains' substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and enjoined the City from disclosing or distributing any of the death-scene photographs.	13	
	3.	The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington state law in upholding the trial court's ruling that the disclosure of the		

	n-scene photographs were exempt or the PRA.	19		
E. Conclusion		19		
	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES			
	STATE CASES			
<i>All-Pure Chemical</i> 127 Wash. 2d 1, 5,	Co. v. White 896 P.2d 697 (1995)	13		
Hearst v. Hoppe 90 Wash. 2d 123, 1	35-136, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)	15-16		
Reid v. Pierce County 136 Wash. 2d 195, 206, 961 P.2d 333 (1998)				
State v. Olson 126 Wash. 2d 315,	320-321, 893 P.2d 639 (1995)	12		
NINT	H CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS			
Marsh v. County o 680 F.3D 1148, 115	of San Diego 53-1155 (9 TH Cir. 2012)	12-15		
UNI	TED STATES SUPREME COURT			
	and Records Administration v. Favish .Ct. 1570 (2004)	15		
WA	SHINGTON STATE STATUTES			
RCW 42.17.310(1)		15		
RCW 42.56		11		
RCW 42.56.050		7 10		

RCW 42.56.070(1)		2			
RCW 42.56.240(1)		6-7, 9			
RCW 42.56.540		9, 11			
	FEDERAL STATUTES				
Federal Freedom of ("FOIA")	Information Act, 5 U.S.C. §552(b)	16			
42 U.S.C. §1983		13			
	CONSTITUTION				
United States Constitution, Art. VI, cl.2					
United States Constitution, 14 th Amendment					
<u>R</u>	ULES AND REGULATIONS				
RAP 13.4(b)		2, 19			
	<u>OTHER</u>				
	nd) of Torts § 6251D,	15-16			

A. Introduction.

Appellant Richard Lee sued the City of Seattle and its police department after they refused to produce "death scene" photographs of the suicide of Kurt Cobain of the Seattle grunge rock band "Nirvana". Mr. Cobain's widow and surviving daughter, Courtney Love Cobain and Frances Bean Cobain ("the Cobains"), were granted leave to intervene in that lawsuit and asked the Court to permanently enjoin the City of Seattle from releasing them. The trial court granted the City's motion for summary judgment dismissing Mr. Lee's lawsuit, and the Cobains' motion for summary judgment permanently enjoining the release of those photographs.

The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's rulings, holding that:

- Because Lee failed to appeal from the trial court's order granting the Cobains' motion for summary judgment, assign error to it, analyze or otherwise discuss the ruling, or request relief from the ruling, he forfeited his right to review of the issue and that order. *Opinion*, page 7
- Granting the Cobains' motion for summary judgment was correct because the release of the death-scene photographs of Kurt Cobain would shock the conscience and offend the community's sense of fair play and decency, violating the Cobains' substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment, and that permanently enjoining the City of Seattle from disclosing those photographs was a reasonable way to prevent such a violation. *Opinion*, page 11.

- Granting the motion for summary judgment by the City of Seattle and the Seattle Police Department ("the City") was correct because the death-scene photographs were exempt from disclosure under RCW 42.56.070(1) of the Washington State Public Records Act ("PRA"). *Opinion*, pp. 13-14
- Granting the City's motion for summary judgment on the other documents sought by Lee was correct because they were exempt from disclosure or authorized under other provisions of the PRA. *Opinion*, pp. 14-19

The Court of Appeals decision presents no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Lee's Petition must be denied.

B. Restatement of Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Did not the Court of Appeals correctly hold that Mr. Lee forfeited his right to appeal the trial court's order granting the Cobains' motion for summary judgment for failing to address it in his appeal? And, even if that holding were incorrect:
- 2. Did not the Court of Appeals correctly hold that the release of the death-scene photographs violated the Cobains' substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment and that permanently enjoining the City from disclosing them was a reasonable way to prevent such a violation?
- 3. Did not the Court of Appeals correctly hold that the death-scene photographs were exempt from disclosure under the PRA?

4. Should not the other aspects of the trial court's rulings and the Court of Appeals opinion not be reviewed because they were not included in Lee's Petition for Review?

C. Restatement of the Case.

1. Kurt Cobain dies in April of 1994.

Courtney Love Cobain is the widow, and Frances Bean Cobain is the daughter, of Kurt Cobain, the lead singer of the band "Nirvana", who was discovered dead in the family home in Seattle on April 8, 1994. *Opinion*, page 2 At the time of their husband's and father's death, Courtney Love Cobain was 25 years old and Frances Bean Cobain had not yet turned two. (CP 273)

2. Mr. Lee has been obsessed with Kurt Cobain's death ever since.

The Court of Appeals properly, although with considerable understatement, characterized Lee as "a local conspiracy theorist who believes that Mr. Cobain was murdered." *Opinion*, page 2

In his Petition that initiated the litigation Mr. Lee admitted that he "visited the area of [Mr. Cobain's] death" that very day, and immediately after the discovery of Mr. Cobain's body, "began creating news and documentary material for his public access television program, known as Now See it Person to Person, [which] aired weekly for one year prior to this time, and [was] seen

throughout King County on cable television." (CP 1)

Mr. Lee's first broadcast on the subject of Cobain's death, which he called "Was Kurt Cobain Murdered?, was aired on April 13, 1994, only five days following the discovery of Mr. Cobain's body. (CP 311) He testified that "[s]ince that time I have aired over 600 unique editions of this series, focusing on the Cobain homicide and closely related subjects of local police and politics, hundreds of hours of programs on the controversies surrounding Cobain's death. It is fair to say that I am the world's leading expert on Cobain's death, and to my knowledge my program is likely the longest running public affairs television program in Seattle history." (CP 331)

Throughout the ensuing 20-plus years of his obsession with Mr. Cobain's death Mr. Lee has harassed Ms. Love Cobain¹, Nirvana bassist Krist Novoselic, former Washington State governor Gary Locke, former Seattle Police Chief Norm Stamper, former City of Seattle mayor Greg Nickels, and Kurt Cobain's father and stepmother. (C) 340 – 358, 367 – 383)

In Ms. Love Cobain's April 21, 2016 Declaration in support of

¹ He was arrested in Los Angeles in January 2005 on two felony accounts after stalking her. (CP 331).

the Cobains' Motion for Summary Judgment, she testified – and Mr. Lee did not dispute – that Mr. Lee has "stalked and harassed me, my family, and my friends for many, many years. . . On one particular occasion, Mr. Lee even filmed himself chasing a limousine for several miles that he thought I was a passenger in. Mr. Lee's actions make me fear for my safety." (CP 389)

In 2000 Mr. Novoselic filed a petition for antiharassment, contending that "for the prior six years Mr. Lee appeared at virtually every one of Novoselic's public appearances and had disrupted the events 'by screaming accusations at [him] and shoving [a] camcorder into [his] face." (CP 361) The trial court granted the petition, concluding that Mr. Lee's conduct "evinced a course of conduct which is harassing, vexing, annoying and arguably assaultive to such a great degree that any reasonable person would feel their life and safety were compromised." (CP 363)

3. Following Kurt Cobain's death, the City provided Mr. Lee with many documents in response to his public disclosure requests.

This is discussed in the City's Answer to Mr. Lee's Petition for Review.

4. The procedural history of this case.

In his petition against the City Mr. Lee contended that the Seattle Police Department had improperly rejected his request for "ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS RELATED TO the March, 2014 effort to 'reopen' or 'examine' this the Kurt D. Cobain death case, ," (CP 3). The City answered that it had disclosed all non-exempt records responsive to Mr. Lee's request (CP 669)

The Cobains successfully moved to intervene in the case as additional Defendants and Cross-Claimants. (CP 102 - 103) In their Cross-Claims they sought a permanent injunction against the release of "any and all records of any kind . . . that the City of Seattle has not previously so disclosed or disseminated" pursuant to the PRA, Washington state common law, and their due process rights under the constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington. (CP 674)

The City filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and the Cobains filed a Motion for [a full and complete] Summary Judgment. (CP 286 – 308)

The City of Seattle contended that Mr. Lee was not entitled to the requested documents because one subsection of the PRA, RCW 42.56.240(1), created an exemption for "[s]pecific intelligence

information and specific investigative records compiled by investigative, law enforcement, and penology agencies, and state agencies vested with the responsibility to discipline members of any profession, the nondisclosure of which is essential to effective law enforcement or for the protection of any person's right to privacy[.]" (CP 689)

The City of Seattle claimed that the "protection of any person's right to privacy" component of 42.56.240(1) had been satisfied because the requested documents "would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and . . . not of legitimate concern to the public", the PRA's definition of "right to privacy" in RCW 42.56.050. (CP 690)

The Cobains' Motion for Summary Judgment, while supporting the City of Seattle's argument that the documents were exempt under the PRA's "protection of any person's right to privacy" prong, emphasized in three supporting declarations the damage that they and other members of their family would personally suffer if the requested "death scene photographs" were released.

Courtney Love Cobain testified that

• Kurt's death was the most traumatic experience of my life. It left me physically distraught, and I

continue to suffer emotionally from the loss of my husband to this day. Certainly, public disclosure [of death-scene photos of Kurt that show his entire lifeless body, as well as the damage done by the shotgun blast to his head] would reopen all my old wounds, and cause me and my family permanent – indeed, endless and needless – pain and suffering and would be a gross violation of our privacy interests. (CP 385 – 386)

• I am particularly worried how the release of these photos will impact my daughter Frances. Frances never knew her father, and has had to deal with the trauma of his death her entire life. I know firsthand how difficult it was for her to cope with growing up. The release of these upsetting and offensive images would be incredibly harmful and destructive to her, and I do not want to see her suffer any more than she already has. (CP 388)

Frances Bean testified that

- Release and publication of the photographs would shock me and exacerbate the posttraumatic stress that I have suffered since childhood.
- Releasing the photographs also would physically endanger me and my mother. My mother and I both receive a constant stream of death threats from very disturbed individuals who are obsessed with my father... Releasing these photographs into the public domain would encourage more disturbed stalkers and fanatical threats. It would make me feel even more unsafe in public and make me more fearful for myself and my family's safety...

• I am not the only person who would be irreparably scarred by public disclosure of the photographs. . . . [My father's] parents (my grandmother and grandfather) and his sisters and brother (my aunts and uncle) would be especially vulnerable to emotional pain and trauma from knowledge that the pictures were public.(CP 391 – 392)

The Cobains asked the trial court to dismiss Mr. Lee's petition pursuant to not just the PRA but, as they sought in their cross-claims, "Washington state common law, and their due process rights under the constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington". (CP 306 - 308)

In their Motion the Cobains faced a different standard under the PRA than did the City of Seattle: to be awarded their requested injunctive relief the trial court had to find that releasing the records "would substantially and irreparably damage any person . . ." RCW 42.56.540.

On May 20, 2016, after substantial briefing and lengthy oral argument, the trial court entered orders granting both motions.

In its Order granting the City's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment the trial court found that it had met its burden of proving that the "death scene images" of Kurt Cobain were exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1). (CP 11 - 13) The City later filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment on one remaining issue to which

Lee did not appeal, which was granted on August 1, 2016 (CP 20 – 23). Three weeks later the trial court entered a Judgment for the City, dismissing all claims made by Mr. Lee with prejudice. (CP 28 – 32)

In its May 20, 2016 order granting the Cobains' Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court held that the information requested to be disclosed was exempt under RCW 42.56.050, injunctive relief was appropriate because its release "would substantially and irreparably harm the Cross-Claimants," and "[f]or the same reasons, the disclosure of the requested information would also violate the Cross-Claimants' right to privacy in violation of Washington state common law and the 14^{th} Amendment to the United States Constitution." (CP 6 – 10)

Unlike the order granting the City of Seattle's motion for partial summary judgment, the Cobains' summary judgment fully adjudicated their case against Mr. Lee: they sued for and were awarded a judgment permanently enjoining the City of Seattle from "disclosing, disseminating, releasing or distributing to any person, entity, agency, or member of the general public, any and all death scene images that the City of Seattle has not previously so disclosed or disseminated regarding the death of Kurt Cobain." (CP 8) The

trial specifically found that "[t]he requested injunctive relief is therefore appropriate pursuant to RCW 42.56.540 as (a) the requested information specifically pertains to the Cross-Claimants; (b) an exemption to disclosure under RCW 42.56 applies; and (c) the disclosure would not be in the public interest and would substantially and irreparably harm the Cross-Claimants." (CP 8)

As stated in the Introduction, *supra*, the Court of Appeals dismissed Mr. Lee's appeal due to his failure to appeal the trial court's granting of the Cobains' motion for summary judgment dismissal, then upheld all of its other rulings too.

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington state law in dismissing Mr. Lee's appeal for failure to properly appeal the Cobains' summary judgment.

It is undisputed that in Mr. Lee's opening appellate brief not only was the Cobains' summary judgment order not one of the three assignments of error or one of the 15 "issues pertaining to" those assignments of error, it made not a single reference to the trial court's due process holding at all.

In his Answer to the Motion to Dismiss filed by the Cobains in the Court of Appeals due to this omission, Mr. Lee claimed both

that these "omissions and mistakes" were "purely accidental" and due to his "misunderstanding" that the due process issue was "a particularly weak aspect of the defendants' arguments." *Id.*, page 9 He now contends in his Petition at page seven that his "ostensibly reasonable perception was that the *Marsh* case was being addressed by inference, . . ."

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